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2015 WL 2155439 (Or.Cir.) (Trial Pleading)
Circuit Court of Oregon.

Clackamas County

Kelly KELVIN, Verna Dunlap and Life Change Transitions Inc., Plaintiffs,
v.

CITY OF OREGON CITY, Oregon, a city incorporated in the State of Oregon, Dave Mueller, Mike
Roberts, Nancy Busch, and Unknown Oregon City Police Officers, John Does 1-5, Defendants.

No. CV15050082.
May 6, 2015.

Complaint

Tyler Smith, OSB# 075287, Tyler Smith & Associates P.C., 181 N Grant St. STE 212, Canby, OR 97013,
503-266-5590(p);503-877-6652(f), Tyler @RuralBusinessAttorneys.com, for plaintiffs

Violation of Civil Rights (42 USC § 1983: Unlawful Seizure; Unlawful Search; Due Process); Conversion; Elder
Abuse (ORS 124.110); Trespass; Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress; Intentional Interference with Economic
Relations; Abuse of Process; Attorney Fees.

PRAYER AMOUNT: $9,981,000.00

(JURY TRIAL REQUESTED; NOT SUBJECT TO MANDATORY ARBITRATION)

Plaintiffs Allege:

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1.

Plaintiffs Kelly Kelvin and Verna Dunlap are residents of Clackamas County, citizens of the United States of America, and
currently reside in Clackamas County. All or substantially all of the actions giving rise to this action took place in Clackamas
County, Oregon. Venue is appropriate in this Court because the events giving rise to this complaint occurred in Clackamas
County, Oregon.

PARTIES

2.

Kelly Kelvin, and Verna Dunlap (“Plaintiffs”) are both residents of Clackamas County. Defendants, City of Oregon City, Oregon
(“Oregon City”) is a municipality in the state of Oregon and is located in Clackamas County, Oregon. On information and
belief, Defendant Mike Roberts (“Roberts”), during times relevant to this complaint, was acting as the Oregon City's Building
Official. Roberts is also sued in his individual capacity. On information and belief, Defendant Nancy Busch (“Busch”), during
times relevant to this complaint, was the Code Enforcement Manager for Oregon City. Busch is also sued in her individual
capacity. On information and belief, Defendant Dave Mueller (“Mueller”), during times relevant to this complaint, was the Code
Compliance Officer for Oregon City. Mueller is also sued in his individual capacity. On information and belief, Defendants
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John Does 1-5, during times relevant to this complaint, were police officers in the city of Oregon City. John Does 1-5 are also
sued in their individual capacity. All conditions precedent to the institution of this lawsuit have been met. Plaintiff timely filed
tort claims notices.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

3.

In or about the summer of 2014 Plaintiff Verna Dunlap purchased Oregon City Manor (“OCM”) located at 303 S. High Street,
Oregon City Oregon. Plaintiff Dunlap owns and operates Life Change Transitions (“LCT”). LCT is a domestic non-profit
corporation with a goal of assisting veterans. LCT's mission is to operate a safe and sober living facility that targets veterans
and others with special needs. LCT provides a model infrastructure that ensures their resident's success. LCT emphasizes a
structured recovery path for male veterans returning home from war who have found themselves in hopeless situations and
need assistance adjusting to civilian life. LCT also provides housing for men graduating alcohol and drug treatment programs;
including those men in the legal system. Tenants of OCM, 303 S. High Street, pay a flat monthly rent of $650.00. This amount
covers food, laundry, utilities, and other miscellaneous expenses. Plaintiff Dunlap is a veteran of the United States Army who
was honorably discharged. Since that time, Plaintiff Dunlap has pursued graduate level education and is in the process of
obtaining licensure as a professional counselor. Plaintiff Dunlap has additional education in military resilience counseling.

4.

Plaintiff Kelly Kelvin is a United States Army veteran who was honorably discharged from service in 1968. Plaintiff Kelvin
suffers from life limiting medical conditions and is on prescription medication. As a result of his medical condition, Plaintiff
Kelvin has difficulty standing, walking, bathing, and using the restroom. Additionally, he has substantially lost the use of his
left leg. Mr. Kelvin subsists on a fixed disability income from the VA of approximately $1,093.00 per month and approximately
a $150.00 per month food stamp stipend. Plaintiff Kelvin pays $650.00 per month in rent in exchange for tenancy at 303 S. High
Street, and has continued to do so throughout the entirety of the tenancy. At all times during the course of these circumstances,
Plaintiff Kelvin has been over 65 years of age during all relevant periods, and is disabled as defined in ORS 410.040(7).

5.

Plaintiff Dunlap was a resident of 303 South High Street, Oregon City, Oregon 97045 from June, 2014 through March 31,
2015. Plaintiff Kelvin was a resident of 303 South High Street, Oregon City, Oregon 97045 from October, 2014 through March
31, 2015. At all times from October, 2014 until April 10, 2015 a professional landlord and tenant relationship existed between
Plaintiffs. Plaintiff Dunlap and Plaintiff Kelvin enjoyed a possessory right to exclusive possession of the real property located
at 303 S. High Street. On or about September, 2014 Plaintiff Dunlap entered into a contractual relationship with the Oregon
City Utility Department to provide water services to her home at 303 S. High St. Plaintiff Dunlap agreed to pay for, and Oregon
City Utility Department agreed to provide a necessary amount of water for Plaintiffs use at 303 S. High St. Defendants knew or
should have known of the relationship between Oregon City Utility Department and Plaintiff Dunlap because Plaintiff Dunlap's
home is located within the City of Oregon City's, Defendants are employees of Oregon City with access to relevant records,
and Defendants entered 303 High St. On October 7, 2014 and on March 31, 2015.

6.

On or about September 3, 2014 Plaintiff Dunlap filed for an official Oregon City business license for LCT pursuant to Oregon
City Code Chapter 5.04. Oregon City has a specific legal process which it is obligated to follow when processing business
license applications. That process is set forth in Oregon City Code 5.04.070 through 5.04.120. At all relevant times Defendants
knowingly denied Plaintiffs due process of the law by ignoring and refusing to follow their own law, not following their own
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ordinances, denying, holding, delaying and refusing to process the business license application as required by law. Defendants
continue to refuse to follow the process outlined and required by law and have acted maliciously toward Plaintiffs without
regard for Plaintiffs constitutional rights. Defendants have egregiously refused to process the business application according
to the law. During this same time, Defendants have threatened a $300 per day penalty of law for not having the exact same
license they have been denying due process on.

7.

On or about October 7, 2014, Defendant Roberts, who is neither the chief of police, fire chief, city engineer, nor code compliance
officer nor their agent or subordinate came to 303 S. High Street. Acting under color of law, Defendant Roberts conversed
with Plaintiff Dunlap on items within the home which Defendant Roberts asserted required additional work in order for the
residence to be in compliance with the Oregon City Building Code. Tenants were living at the residence at this time. At no time
on October 7, 2014, did Defendant Roberts suggest that the residence posed an imminent danger to any person or tenant.

8.

On or about October 20, 2014, Defendant Roberts sent a letter to Plaintiff Dunlap containing an itemized list of issues gathered
from his initial inspection on October 7, 2014, which he asserted needed repair. Defendant Roberts did not provide or propose
a deadline for finalizing any of the items, nor did he set a hearing on the business license application. Neither did Defendant
Roberts request a list or schedule of repairs from Plaintiff Dunlap. Defendant Roberts closed the October 20, 2014 letter by
stating that “Until such time that the above items have been addressed and approved by the City of Oregon City Building
Department the business license will be placed in an On Hold/Pending Status.” At no time within the October 20, 2014 letter
did Defendant Roberts suggest that the residence posed an imminent danger to any person or tenant. At no time did Defendants
follow the Oregon City Code with respect to the business license application.

9.

In or about the fall of 2014, but after October 7, 2014, Plaintiff Dunlap engaged the Fire Marshall of Clackamas County, Oregon;
Christenson Electric, Inc.; Crown Inspection, Inc.; and other licensed contractors to address the issues Defendant Roberts' had
itemized and complained about. At all relevant times during these repairs and inspections, tenants occupied the residence.
During that time no one was injured, made unsafe, damaged, or in any other way made unsafe, unsanitary or unfit for the type
of residential services taking place at OCM. Plaintiff Dunlap spent approximately $10,000.00 in an effort to meet Defendant
Roberts' requirements. These efforts resulted in OCM passing an electrical inspection performed by Oregon City Inspector R.
Jones and the Clackamas County Fire Marshall declaring the home to be safe. Plaintiff Dunlap caused the residences' fire exit
signs, emergency egress ladder, exit paths, aliquant code lighting, and fire detection systems to be inspected and approved by
the Clackamas County Fire Marshall. At no time did the Clackamas County Fire Marshall suggest that the residence posed
an imminent danger to any person or tenant. Additionally, Christenson Electric, Inc. updated the electrical issues Defendant
Roberts required, and the repair passed inspection by a licensed Oregon City electrical inspector. At no time did the Oregon
City electrical inspector suggest that the residence posed an imminent danger to any person or tenant. Finally, Plaintiff Dunlap
engaged the services of Home Depot, Inc. Home Depot came to the residence and measured the windows, siding, and roof for
replacement. Home Depot informed Plaintiff Dunlap that they would proceed to make repairs free of charge as part of a grant
to help disabled veterans. During the fall of 2014 through March 31, 2015 Plaintiff Dunlap continued to make or cause to be
made repairs and improvements to the structure including roof patching, new linoleum floors and other cosmetic and quality
of life improvements. At all material times the OCM was in substantially the same or similar condition as the surrounding
residential properties in the neighborhood.
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10.

On or about November 10, 2015, Defendant Roberts sent a second letter to Plaintiff Dunlap, informing her that she needed to
provide “a detailed list or schedule that the repairs will be made.” Defendant Roberts stated that upon receipt of Plaintiff Dunlap's
written response, he “would review and provide a written response to [Plaintiff Dunlap].” Plaintiff Dunlap was confused by the
wording of Defendant Roberts' letter in that it was not readily apparent what Defendant Roberts required. Because of Defendant
Roberts' ambiguous wording,” Plaintiff Dunlap could not readily ascertain (1) what constituted a “detailed” list; (2) whether
Defendant Roberts required both a detailed list as well as a schedule of the repairs to be made; and, (3) in what method or
manner the “detailed list” should be provided. Nevertheless, between November 10, 2015 and November 30, 2015, Plaintiff
Dunlap caused Defendant Roberts to be in receipt of a detailed written list of repairs that had been made or that were in the
process of being made. At no time during this communication between Defendant Roberts and Plaintiff Dunlap did Defendant
Roberts suggest that the residence posed an imminent danger to any person or tenant. Oregon City code does not state, list, or
authorize the demanding of a list of repairs, nor a schedule of repairs to be provided to the Building Official.

11.

On or about January 22, 2015, Defendant Roberts sent a third letter to Plaintiff Dunlap opening with the words: “I apologize
for the late response to your response.” This apology was in reference to the detailed list of written repairs that Plaintiff Dunlap
sent to Defendant Roberts between November 10, 2015 and November 30, 2015. Defendant Roberts' response came at least
53 days after Plaintiff Dunlap caused Defendant Roberts to be in receipt of the list of repairs. Defendant Roberts provided
vague, unclear, indefinite, uncertain and brief responses to every comment included on Plaintiff Dunlap's timely submitted
list. However, in his January 22, 2015 letter, Defendant Roberts clarified that the detailed list that Plaintiff Dunlap provided
was, in his opinion, not sufficient. He now required a “detailed response to the October 20, 2014 letter within 30 days of this
correspondence that also includes a schedule of the repairs that will be made.” Defendant Roberts closed the letter by stating:
“Failure to provide the required detailed list will result in further administrative action including the issuance of a citation and
the possibly [sic] of the structure posted as a “Dangerous Building” and unsafe for human occupancy,”

12.

Plaintiff Dunlap was verbally informed that at some later time, another inspection of the repairs would be made to see if the
repairs she had schedule and listed had been performed. No inspection took place. Plaintiff Dunlap did in fact perform and
complete the repairs that had been required. On March 31, 2015 the same day Defendants wrongfully evicted Plaintiffs, seized
their property, and forced them to vacate the residence, other divisions of Oregon City were in fact reviewing and approving
permits for more improvements that had been made at OCM. On March 31, 2015 a permit (#BB-15-0120) for the installation
of a restaurant style exhaust hood fire system over the stove was applied for, and the same permit was approved on April 3,
2015 and issued on April 6, 2015. During all relevant times no earthquake, windstorm, fire, or other natural disaster caused or
would have caused OCM to become a dangerous or uninhabitable building, and none occurred at or near 303 S. High Street
between October 7, 2014 and March 31, 2015. During this time, no substantial negative changes to the property took place;
only improvements to the structure. There was no immediate, imminent or even urgent problem, danger, or need for repair.

13.

At all times relevant to these circumstances, Oregon City employed a Code Hearings Officer for the purpose of providing a
full and fair adjudication of those persons alleged to have violated any portion of the city code. A proceeding before the code
hearings officer may only be initiated by an official, employee, or agent of the city, filing a complaint with the office of the
code hearings officer on forms provided by that office. At no time prior to March 31, 2015 was Plaintiff Dunlap alleged by any
official, employee, or agent of Oregon City to have been in violation of the city code. At no time prior to March 31, 2015 was
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Plaintiff Dunlap a respondent in any complaint filed against her by any official, employee, or agent of Oregon City. Oregon
City Municipal Code Chapter 1.24 contains the procedures for enforcement of the city code. The purpose of the chapter is to
provide a fast, fair, and impartial adjudication of the alleged city code violations; and to provide persons adversely impacted by
administrative determinations and decisions with effective and impartial appeal and review of the legality and appropriateness
of the determination. Before any city enforcement decision, the owner of property and each tenant must be served with notice.
It is for this purpose that Oregon City Municipal Code section 1.24.050 states that “after notice of hearing, and until such time
as the code hearings officer issues a final decision, neither the respondent(s) nor the city official initiating the hearing shall take
any action that results in the vacation of a building used for residential occupancy without the permission of the code hearings
officer, except that in cases where buildings are found to be imminently hazardous, the building official or fire marshal may
order the building vacated if no other reasonable means are available to eliminate the imminent hazard.” At no time prior to

March 31, 2015 was 303 S. High Street, nor 314 S. 2 nd  Street considered an imminent hazard. Neither Oregon City Code, nor
Oregon Law gives a building official the power or authority to evict, remove or use police to forcefully remove disabled and
elderly tenants from their home upon 20 minutes notice.

14.

At all times relevant to these circumstances, Defendants operated as officials, employees, and agents of Oregon City, Oregon.
Defendants acted under color of the Oregon City Municipal Code to carry out each action. At all material times, the Municipal
Code of Oregon City was in effect, unaltered, and was readily available to Defendants. At all material times Defendants knew
they were acting contrary to well established law. Notwithstanding the above facts, on or about March 31, 2015 at approximately
3:00 PM, Plaintiffs were deliberately and forcibly removed or evicted from OCM by Defendants. On information and belief,
Plaintiffs observed Defendant Roberts inside the building shouting to everyone that: “You have 20 minutes to get your stuff
and get the hell out!” Accompanying Defendants were approximately three armed Oregon City Police Officers John Does
1-3, several Clackamas County officials, and representatives from the Oregon City Code Enforcement Department. Oregon
City Municipal Code 15.24.020(B) states that before a building official may have a right of entry on occupied property he has
reasonable cause to believe is dangerous, the building official must first present proper credentials and request entry from the
property owner or the person in charge. Further, the ordinance states that if entry is refused, the building official must obtain a
warrant from municipal, district, or circuit court authorizing entry. Despite clear law and guidance to the contrary, Defendants
entered OCM without consent from any person or owner, and without knocking or announcing their presence. Defendants did
not have a warrant for their entry. When Plaintiff Dunlap was made aware that defendants had entered her home without consent,
she immediately offered proof that all outstanding items had been completed and that the home was in fact inspection ready.
Plaintiff Dunlap was in fact expecting that there would be an inspection at some undefined time in the near future. Defendants,
and specifically, Defendant Roberts, refused to look at any documentation or to perform any inspection. Defendants barged
into the house and started shouting that everyone had 20 minutes to grab anything they could carry and leave the building. At
all times during defendants' intrusion, inspection tags evidencing the safety of the residence were readily apparent. Documents
evidencing completion of repair were also made available to Defendants. Defendants brushed aside any such offers and began
rummaging through personal property of Plaintiffs and other tenants. When Plaintiff Dunlap again insisted that Defendant
Roberts look to the readily apparent tags, he took a photograph and continued to order every occupant, including a disabled
veteran on kidney dialysis, to leave the home. During the eviction, Defendants tossed prescription. medication at tenants and
told them to get out. Some medications were given to tenants without verification of whether the tenant receiving the medication
was actually the tenant to whom the prescription medication was prescribed. Plaintiff Dunlap was forced to take some of her
tenants to the Oregon City Hall to hand in medication they were given that was not prescribed to them. Tenants' medications
were mixed up or otherwise not given to the correct person. On information and belief Defendants may have illegally distributed
prescription medications to persons without lawful authority to do so. Defendants also acted intentionally to interfere with the
contractual relationship between Oregon City Utility Department and Plaintiff Dunlap by the improper means of unlawfully
entering her home and terminating her tenancy.

Defendants' intentional interference and improper means of accomplishing the interference caused Plaintiff Dunlap to be in
breach of her contract with Oregon City Utility Department. Plaintiff Dunlap's water services were severed on or about April,
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2015 because of Defendants' tortious interference. Defendants knew or should have known that their actions would deprive
each occupant of their property rights, medical needs, necessary shelter, and their possessory interest in their tangible personal
property. Notwithstanding, Plaintiffs and seventeen other tenants were given 20 minutes to gather their belongings and exit their
home. During all relevant times, no written notice of any kind was given to Plaintiff Kelvin. According to Oregon City Code,
written notice of a hearing must be provided to all tenants or occupants. Although each and every Defendant was an employee
or official of Oregon City, and undoubtedly knew Oregon City law, Mr. Kelvin did not have any notice of any allegation
that the house was allegedly unsafe because Defendants refused to provide it. Plaintiff Kelvin, having lived in the home for 6
months, at no time observed any unsafe, unsanitary, or dangerous condition within the home. On the contrary, Plaintiff Kelvin
witnessed Plaintiff Dunlap take measures and expend significant sums, of money to increase the visual appeal, comfort, and
livability the home. Notwithstanding the established safety of the home and the subsequent repairs, Defendants ransacked the
home and caused Plaintiff Kelvin to be homeless, cold, and stranded in the rain. Plaintiff Dunlap was left with a summons
stating that she was in violation of the Oregon City Code. The code provisions she was alleged to have violated are as follows:
OCMC 15.24.010; 15.04.020; and 5.04.060. First, OCMC 15.24.010 is a definition within the Oregon City code which provides
only a description of what a dangerous building is and provides no imperative language of any sort that confers a duty on an
individual. Because a definition within a law is for all purposes a way to interpret the imperative nature of a law, Plaintiff is
understandably confused on how she has violated a code provision lacking an imperative or directive duty. Second, OCMC
15.04.020 is entitled “Violation—Penalty.” Plaintiff is again understandably confused on how a person may be in violation of a
penalty when no penalty has yet been given, and when no ordinance supporting a penalty has been alleged. A definition clarifies
an imperative statute within the law, for which a penalty may be provided. However, Plaintiff has not been alleged by any
Defendant to have violated a specific imperative statute. Finally, OCMC 5.04.060 states that Plaintiff is in violation of operating
a business without a license. Although Defendants have now at least finally cited an ordinance with the potential to be violated,
the unlawful and unconstitutional invasion by which the alleged evidence was obtained precludes its use against Plaintiff. The
Constitution, freedom, and due process for which Plaintiffs took a solemn oath to uphold was ruthlessly, intentionally, and
wrongfully stripped from them because Defendants choose not to follow their own procedures.

15.

The entirety of Plaintiff Kelvin's possessions and property were in his room when he was evicted and forcibly removed. Plaintiff
Kelvin has a medical condition requiring him to sleep on a specific hospital grade mattress. He slept on that hospital grade
mattress until March 31, 201.5. A friend helped him gather as many of his possessions as possible from his room within the 20
minutes allotted by Defendants, however, he was not able to gather more than his medication, a change of clothing, and some
other miscellaneous items. Plaintiff Kelvin asked Defendant Busch for more time to gather his belongings and was informed
that he was not allowed back into his home. Defendant Busch informed Mr. Kelvin that he could not enter his own home
without an appointment and a city escort. Not only was Mr. Kelvin deprived of access and entrance into his own residence,
but he was also significantly and unreasonably deprived of his lawful possessory property interest in his chattels because he
requested possession and was flatly refused. Defendants exerted control and dominion over, and maintained access to Plaintiff
Kelvin's chattels during and after his wrongful eviction. After March 31, Plaintiff Dunlap made an appointment with Defendant
Busch to enter the residence and gather Plaintiff Kelvin's personal property. Upon Plaintiffs' arrival to Defendant Busch's office,
Plaintiffs were informed that because Plaintiff Dunlap had made the appointment, Plaintiff Kelvin would not be allowed to enter
his residence. Thus, Defendants continued to significantly and unreasonably deprive Plaintiff Kelvin of his lawful possessory
property interest in his chattels by exerting control and dominion over, and preventing access thereto. As of April 30, 2015
Defendants have continued to deprive Plaintiff Kelvin of this property despite multiple demands to return it to him. Plaintiff
Kelvin is currently sleeping on a surplus military cot or old couch and is forced to use couch cushions as mattress. Plaintiff
Kelvin currently possesses one change of clothing. The substantial remainder of his personal property has been forcibly withheld
by Defendants. Plaintiff Kelvin has suffered severe mental and physical pain as a result of Defendants actions. He cannot sleep,
cries much of the day, has lost the feeling in both of his legs and continues to endure new symptoms and injuries as a result
of being displaced. Mr. Kelvin had no place to shower for weeks, only Plaintiff Dunlap's kind generosity of buying him a
temporary public pool membership has provided Mr. Kelvin some sanitary ability to get clean. At all times, Defendants knew
or should have known that their actions would deprive Plaintiff Kelvin of his lawful possessory interest in his personal property.
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303 S. High St. has been ransacked by thieves and Oregon City officials. On information and belief, Defendants are hesitant
and slow to allow any tenant including plaintiffs in the home because Defendants do not want Plaintiffs to see the extent of
the damage to the home.

16.

Defendants claim Plaintiffs were forcibly evicted because “The building official of the city of Oregon City has determined
[the] structure to be dangerous and a hazard to public health safety and welfare and is not to be entered upon or occupied by
anyone without specific authority of the building official. Any person found to be entering the structure will be subject to a
citation and fine for trespass.” Oregon City Municipal Code 15.24.050 specifies exact requirements for notice of dangerous
buildings. Included within that notice are the words “Upon inspection.” Defendants posted the notice, but omitted the words
“upon inspection” required by OCMC 15.24.050. The building is not “dangerous.” Neither notice of eviction, nor an opportunity
to be heard prior to eviction was given by any defendant prior to their unconstitutional actions. Defendants knew of their
requirements under the law and made a conscious decision to disregard the law. Prior to March 31, 2015, Defendants performed
only two inspections of the residence. At all times during the previous inspections, no inspector or official suggested, implied or
otherwise, that the residence posed an imminent danger to any person or tenant, nor did any inspector or official inform Plaintiffs
that they may be evicted with 20 minutes notice. Many of the tenants of 303 S. High St. had been tenants previous to Plaintiff
Dunlap's ownership. Defendants were aware of this. Notwithstanding, for wholly arbitrary reasons, 303 S. High St. was posted
as a dangerous building by Defendant Roberts on March 31, 2015. On information and belief, when asked why the building
suddenly became dangerous for no apparent reason after Plaintiff had expended over $10,000 to make repairs, Defendant
Roberts did not answer. He merely provided a list of 15 irrelevant and arbitrary reasons as listed below. All or substantially
all of the alleged defects had been repaired by March 31, 2015, but there was no further inspection made. Defendant Roberts
has a custom and practice of giving vague, unclear, unintelligible and inconsistent arbitrary demands to Oregon City residents
so that he has unfettered discretion on telling them to do additional work or comply with his every demand. On information
and belief the March 31, 2015 entry was pursuant to a building inspection and/or business license inspection. However, the
entry was unlawful and unrelated to the purpose of the ostensible inspection. Further, the inspection never occurred. Defendant
Mueller drafted a summons to Plaintiff Dunlap stating that he had reasonable cause to believe her property was dangerous and
that she was operating without a business license. This summons was drafted at 1:30 PM on March 31, 2015, before Defendants'
unlawful entry. Defendants intentionally and/or recklessly used this summons and process as pretext and leverage for the ulterior
motive of unlawfully searching, arresting, and seizing Plaintiffs' real and personal property. Defendants did not follow the law
for either type of inspection, and according to all applicable law, an unlawful search and seizure is not proper in the regular
course of a service of summons for a minor alleged code violation.

Defendants attempted to use the process of an unlawful building inspection to justify their ulterior purpose of a warrantless
and unannounced license inspection, or alternatively, Defendants attempted to use an unlawful business license inspection to
justify their ulterior purpose of a warrantless and unannounced building inspection. According to Oregon City Municipal Code,
a business license inspection is unrelated to a building code inspection because they are separated by differing standards, laws,
and procedures. Upon information and belief, grounds for declaring 303 High St. a dangerous building came after defendants
intrusion on March 31, 2015 at 3:00 PM, as shown by Defendant Roberts April 2, 2015 letter delineating his arbitrary findings.
Thus, at 1:30PM on March 31, 2015, Defendant Mueller did not have reasonable cause to affix his name to (1) an alleged
violation of a non-imperative ordinance definition and (2) an alleged violation of a violation that had yet to occur. Still,
Defendants' entry was willful, unlawful, and improper in the regular course of any type of normal inspection proceeding. Thus,
Defendants' unlawful and wrongful actions caused an arrest and seizure of Plaintiffs' person, and a taking of Plaintiff Dunlap
and Plaintiff Kelvin's real and personal property.

17.
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On or about April 2, 2015, Defendant Roberts, acting under color of law, mailed Plaintiff Dunlap a letter stating that 303 S. High
Street could not be entered or occupied under penalty of law and that Defendant Roberts had posted it a dangerous building
for the following 15 reasons:

(1) The doors, aisle, passageway, stairway, driveway or other means of exit were not of sufficient width or size or were not so
arranged as to provide safe and adequate means of exit in case of fire or other emergency necessitating evacuation;

(2) The walking surface of an aisle, passageway, stairway, driveway or other means of exit were so warped, worn, loose, torn or
otherwise unsafe as to not provide safe and adequate means of exit in case of fire or other emergency necessitating evacuation;

(3) The stress in any materials, member or portion thereof, due to all dead or live loads, is more than one-and-one-half times
the working stress or stresses allowed in the Building Code for new buildings of similar structure, purpose and location;

(4) a portion thereof has been damaged by fire, earthquake, wind, flood or by any other cause, whether natural or human, to the
extent that the structural strength or stability is materially less than it was before the catastrophe and is less than the minimum
requirements of the building code for new buildings of similar structure, purpose or location;

(5) A portion, member or appurtenance thereof is likely to fail, to become detached or dislodged, or to collapse, and potentially
injure persons or damage property;

(6) A portion, member, appurtenance or ornamentation on the exterior thereof is not of sufficient strength or stability, or is not
so anchored, attached or fastened in place so as to be capable of resisting a wind pressure of one-half of that specified in the
building code for new buildings of similar structure, purpose or location without exceeding the working stresses permitted in
the building code for new buildings;

(7) A portion thereof has wracked, warped, buckled or settled to the extent that walls or other structural members have materially
less resistance to winds or earthquakes than is required of similar new construction;

(8) A portion, because of (a) dilapidation, deterioration or decay; (b) faulty construction; (c) the removal, movement or instability
of any portion of the ground necessary to the support of the building; (d) the deterioration, decay or inadequacy of its foundation;
or (e) any other cause, is likely to partially or completely collapse;

(9) A portion thereof is manifestly unsafe for the purpose for which it is being used;

(10) A building, structure or property has been so damaged by fire, wind, earthquake or flood, or has become so dilapidated
or deteriorated as to become (a) an attractive nuisance to children; (b) a harbor for vagrants, or criminals; or as to (c) enable
persons to resort thereto for the purpose of committing unlawful acts;

(11) A building, structure or property has been constructed, exists, is used, or is maintained in violation of any specific
requirement, prohibition or permit condition applicable to the building provided by any provision of this code or state law;

(12) A building or structure, whether or not erected in accordance with all applicable laws and ordinances, which has in any
nonsupporting part, member or portion less than fifty percent, or in any supporting part, member or portion less than sixty-
six percent of the (a) strength, (b) fire-resisting qualities or characteristics, or (c) weather-resisting qualities or characteristics
required by law for newly constructed buildings of like area, height or occupancy in the same location;

(13) A building, structure or property, used or intended to be used for dwelling purposes, because of inadequate maintenance,
dilapidation, decay, damage, faulty construction or arrangement, inadequate light, air or sanitation facilities, or otherwise, is
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determined by the building official to be unsanitary, unfit for human habitation or in a condition that is likely to cause sickness
or disease;

(14) A building, structure or property, because of obsolescence, dilapidated condition, deterioration, damage, inadequate exits,
lack of sufficient fire-resistive construction, faulty electric wiring, gas connections or heating apparatus, or other cause, is
determined by the fire marshal to be a fire hazard;

(15) Any portion of a building or structure remains on a site after the demolition or destruction of the building or structure or
whenever any building or structure is abandoned for a period in excess of six months so as to qualify the building or portion
thereof as an attractive nuisance or hazard to the public;

On information and belief, Defendants had not performed an inspection of the OCM since a partial electrical inspection October
February 17, 2015. Upon unlawful entry to the premises on March 31, 2015 Defendants had no idea whether the alleged
deficiencies had been rectified and the structure was safe or unsafe. In fact other City Officials had informed Plaintiffs that the
property was safe. Defendants, specifically Defendant Roberts, alleges 303 S. High St. was a dangerous building because it was
used as “a harbor for vagrants and criminals. On information and belief, John Doe Officers 1-3 of Oregon City Police Department
used an unlawful and warrantless administrative search as a pretext to gather evidence for a potential criminal investigation, and
did so in blatant and willful disregard of Plaintiffs' Fourth Amendment rights under the United States Constitution. Each and
every Defendant flaunted the law because the search and seizure of Plaintiffs personal and real property was not sufficiently
limited in scope, was not relevant in purpose, and was not so specific in directive so that Plaintiffs compliance therewith would
not be unreasonably burdensome. Thus, Plaintiffs were subjected to Defendants' unreasonable demands without the opportunity
to obtain judicial review of the reasonableness of the demand prior to suffering the penalties for refusing to comply. Defendant
Roberts' order lacked all essential procedural safeguards against arbitrary and abusive inspection demands. As building official
and at all times acting under color of law, Defendant Roberts conferred on himself authority to choose when to inspect, how to
inspect, and the frequency in which to inspect. Plaintiffs were subjected to the unbridled, arbitrary, and capricious discretion
of Defendant Roberts because in spite of Oregon City law to the contrary, Defendant Roberts acted as a policy making official
under color of law to create a custom and pattern of stripping Plaintiffs of their rights and causing them irreparable harm. Only
by refusing entry to Defendants would Plaintiffs have had the opportunity for a municipal court to determine the validity of
the search and seizure of the property. Because of Defendants' forced entry, Plaintiffs were given no option to refuse. Plaintiffs
could not call the police, because the police were involved and complicit in the enforcement of the wrongful eviction. When
Plaintiffs attempted to protest, they were forcefully removed from their home at 303 S. High St. and given the 15 arbitrary and
unclear reasons above as justification for Defendants' unconstitutional and tortious conduct.

18.

Upon Plaintiff's forced eviction from 303 S. High Street, Plaintiff Kelvin was left homeless by Defendants. Historical weather
data shows that on March 31, 2015, Oregon City's weather was cold rain, with temperatures between 44 to 54 degrees Fahrenheit.
Mr. Kelvin had no place to find shelter and was forced to remain outside for approximately one hour and thirty five minutes.
During this time, Mr. Kelvin was uncovered and confined to his wheelchair while cold rain continually fell on him. Defendants
were informed and visually confirmed that Plaintiff Kelvin and other disabled veterans had no other place to seek shelter, yet
they continued to act without reasonable cause, and in concert, to deprive plaintiff of his property, health, and safety. Although
Defendants knew or should have known of his tenancy with Plaintiff Dunlap, they continued to cause his harm through the
improper means of wrongful and unlawful eviction. Through tears, Plaintiff Kelvin pleaded with defendants to allow him to go
back home and gather the remainder of his personal belongings so he could at least stay warm or put on clothes. Defendants
refused. At all times while sitting in the rain without the manner, method, or means to seek shelter, Plaintiff Kelvin's physical
location and rapidly deteriorating physical condition was readily visible by Defendants and the other now homeless veterans
affected by Defendants' actions.
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19.

On or about the night of March 31, 2015, Plaintiff Dunlap personally paid for the motel rooms of each tenant who was rendered
homeless as a result of Defendants' wrongful eviction actions. On April 2, 2015, Plaintiff Dunlap's personal resources were
exhausted to the extent that she could no longer afford motel lodging for herself or any other tenant, including Plaintiff Kelvin.

20.

On or about April 2, 2015, Plaintiff Dunlap arranged for some tenants, including Plaintiff Kelvin to stay at 314 S. 2 nd  Street,

Oregon City, Oregon, 97045. 314 S. 2 nd  Street is a separate and free standing structure near OCM. Plaintiffs were residents of

314 South 2 nd  Street, Oregon City, Oregon, 97045 from April 2, 2015 through April 9, 2015. Plaintiff Dunlap has owned the

property and structures located on 314 S. 2 nd  Street since September 3, 2014. Plaintiff Dunlap and Plaintiff Kelvin enjoyed

a landlord tenant relationship with respect to the property located at 314 S. 2 nd  Street. Plaintiff Dunlap and Plaintiff Kelvin

also shared a possessory right to exclusive possession of the real property located at 314 S. 2 nd  Street with other evicted OCM
tenants.

21.

Plaintiff advised Defendant Oregon City of her location so that they could contact her with regard to pending legal issues
regarding OCM. However, instead of using the updated information provided by plaintiff to contact her regarding OCM,
Defendants used it to violate each Plaintiff's rights in the same manner as described above. On or about April 9, 2015, Defendants

Busch and Mueller arrived at 314 S. 2 nd  Street accompanied by at least two armed Oregon City Police Officers John Does
4-5. Plaintiffs were again forcibly and deliberately removed from their residence by Defendants under threat of force and under
color of law. Neither Plaintiff Dunlap nor Plaintiff Kelvin were in receipt of any type of notice before eviction, nor did they
receive any type of hearing or information regarding any potential hearing. On information and belief the April 9, 2015 entry to

314 S. 2 nd . St. was pursuant to a building inspection and/or business license inspection. However, the entry was unlawful and
unrelated to the purpose of the ostensible inspection which never actually occurred. Defendants did not follow the law for either
type of inspection. Defendants attempted to use the process of an unlawful building inspection to justify their ulterior purpose
of a warrantless and unannounced license inspection, or alternatively, Defendants attempted to use an unlawful business license
inspection to justify their ulterior purpose of a warrantless and unannounced building inspection. A business license inspection
is unrelated to a building code inspection because they are separated by differing standards, laws, and procedures. At no time
from March 31, 2015 through April 9, 2015 did the Oregon City Municipal Code change with respect to business licenses or
building inspections. Defendants acted deliberately with knowledge of the Plaintiffs' possessory interest in the real property,
and with knowledge of the contractual relationship between Plaintiff Dunlap and Plaintiff Kelvin. Defendants entered upon the
land unlawfully and in the same manner described in paragraphs 13-16 above to effect a wrongful eviction. Because Defendants
acted unlawfully, Plaintiffs' lease agreement was again broken by Defendants' improper means. Defendants' actions were utterly
intolerable in a civilized community because Defendants' actions caused Plaintiffs to endure repeated and severe physical and
mental suffering. Defendants then posted the same notice as described above in paragraph 16, but now in relation to this new
property. This notice threatened force of legal penalty and was again defective according to the Oregon City Municipal Code.
Thus, Plaintiffs Kelvin and Dunlap were again deprived from access to and possession of their real and personal property

because of Defendants' wrongful taking, arrest, and seizure of the property located at 314 S 2 nd  Street. Plaintiff Dunlap does
not have access to business files locked within the home.

22.
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At no time during the relevant period was any inspection made concerning the residence located at 314 S. 2 nd  Street. Further, at

the time of eviction, no inspection was made of 314 S. 2 nd  Street before it was apparently “declared a dangerous building.” Prior
to any building being posted as a dangerous building, the Oregon City Municipal Code requires an inspection. Notwithstanding,
a notice threatening legal action against any person who entered was posted on April 10, 2015.

23.

Defendants did not follow the process required by OCC 1.24.150, OCC 15.24.050, 15.24.020 and other portions of the Oregon
City code and therefore deprived Plaintiffs of the process due to them under the ordinances of the City of Oregon City, the
laws of the State of Oregon, and the Constitution of the United States of America. Both Plaintiff Dunlap and Plaintiff Kelvin
honorably served in the Armed Forces of the United States. By failing to act under the law, the City of Oregon City, Mike
Roberts, Nancy Busch, Dave Mueller, and every unknown Defendant who engaged in these deplorable and wrongful actions
have systematically, willfully, and deliberately stripped Kelley Kelvin and Verna Dunlap of the very rights for which they served
their country. Defendants have caused Kelley Kelvin and Verna Dunlap irreparable harm as alleged in the above paragraphs.
Therefore, Plaintiffs pray for the following relief:

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS

Violation of Federal Civil Right 42 USC §1983

Count 1: Violation of Due Process

24.

Plaintiffs re-allege an incorporate paragraphs 1 -23 above as if set forth herein.

Plaintiffs are citizens of the United States and residents of Oregon and thereby have a constitutional right under the Fourteenth
Amendment of the United States Constitution to due process of law before a state actor deprives them of any of their rights
with respect to life, liberty, or property. Defendants Roberts, Busch, Mueller, and Oregon City acting in concert with John Doe
Officers 1-3, deprived Plaintiffs of their right to their right to due process as stated above. 42 U.S.C. §1983 provides that a
party shall be liable when it “subjects, or causes to be subjected, any person of the United States … deprivation of any rights,
privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution and laws of the United States.”

25.

Defendants acting under color of law, in an individual capacity and/or official capacity, misused their powers with a conscious
disregard for Plaintiff's constitutional rights. In addition, or in the alternative, their conduct was wanton, reckless, and in
disregard of plaintiffs well-established constitutional rights and they knew or reasonably should have known that their conduct
was below the standard prescribed by law herein. Defendants' conduct was well defined by law and each Defendant knew or
reasonably should have known that their conduct was below the standard prescribed by law herein.

26.

Defendants violated Plaintiff's procedural and substantive due process rights protected by the Fourteenth Amendment of the
United States Constitution by engaging in conduct as alleged above that includes, but is not limited to:
a. Forcibly evicting plaintiffs from their residential property at 303 S. High Street without reasonable cause;

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=42USCAS1983&originatingDoc=I1d96cc80f79411e4815bfad867ab3d62&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000546&cite=42USCAS1983&originatingDoc=I1d96cc80f79411e4815bfad867ab3d62&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)


Kelly KELVIN, Verna Dunlap and Life Change Transitions..., 2015 WL 2155439...

 © 2016 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 12

b. Forcibly evicting plaintiffs from their residence at 303 S. High Street without notice;

c. Forcibly evicting plaintiffs from their residence at 303 S. High Street without an opportunity for a prior hearing;

d. Making an arbitrary and capricious decision that 303 High Street was an imminently dangerous property, when no other
official or licensed expert believed the property to be imminently dangerous.

e. Preventing Plaintiffs from re-entering their residence and thereby restricting Plaintiffs' liberty by threat of unlawful legal
action.

f. Posting a faulty notice threatening legal action that Defendants knew or should have known was not in compliance with notice
requirements of Oregon City Municipal Code 15.24.050, and with the intended effect of restricting Plaintiffs' liberty.

g. Forcibly evicting plaintiffs from their residential property at 314 S. High Street without reasonable cause;

h. Forcibly evicting plaintiffs from their residence at 314 S. High Street without notice;

i. Forcibly evicting plaintiffs from their residence at 314 S. High Street without an opportunity for a prior hearing;

j. Making an arbitrary and capricious decision that 314 High Street was an imminently dangerous property, when no other
official or licensed expert believed the property to be imminently dangerous.

k. Preventing Plaintiffs from re-entering their residence and thereby restricting Plaintiffs' liberty by threat of unlawful legal
action.

l. Posting a faulty notice threatening legal action that Defendants knew or should have known was not in compliance with notice
requirements of Oregon City Municipal Code 15.24.050, and with the intended effect of forcing Plaintiffs to physically move
off the property and be deprived of their personal and real property;

m. Wrongfully denying, or otherwise delaying the processing of a business license and failing to follow Oregon City Code on
processing of business licenses;

n. Arbitrarily imposing deadlines, construction requirements, and enforcing code provisions that do not exist, do not apply to
the facts of this case, and to not justify Defendant's actions.

27.

Defendants violated Plaintiffs right to due process of the laws protected by the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States
Constitution by engaging in conduct as alleged above in paragraphs 1-26.

28.

Plaintiffs' property interest in their residence was taken away in violation of Plaintiffs due process rights.

29.
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Defendants misused their powers with a willful and malicious intent to deprive Plaintiffs of their due process rights and caused
plaintiffs grievous injuries thereby. Defendants, in acting to deprive Plaintiffs of their due process rights, acted intentionally,
knowingly, willfully, and with gross disregard to Plaintiffs' rights. Plaintiffs were denied process due by law and any process
given was not meaningful or effectual. The only “process of law” given to Plaintiffs was another threat and municipal lawsuit
against Plaintiff Dunlap threatening to fine her for not having the business license the Defendants wrongfully deprived her of
having the opportunity to be heard upon.

30.

The failures described herein, were deliberately indifferent, and in reckless disregard of Plaintiff's safety and well-being.

31.

The acts of the individually named Defendants, as alleged in the paragraphs above, constitute a violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983
for which Plaintiffs are entitled to relief. The violations of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 by the individually named Defendants, resulted in
Plaintiff being deprived of her rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution and laws of the United States.

32.

As a direct and proximate cause of the individually named Defendants' violations of Plaintiffs Fourteenth Amendment rights,
Plaintiff Dunlap requests equitable relief, economic damages in the amount of at least $50,000 and non-economic damages
of at least $1,333,300. Plaintiff Kelvin requests equitable relief, economic damages in the amount of at least $10,000 and
non-economic damages of at least $1,015,000. Plaintiffs' economic damages continue to accrue at the rate of approximately
$15,000 per month and are at this time still not fully known. Plaintiffs seeks recovery of all equitable relief, economic damages,
and compensatory damages provided by law, in addition to reasonable attorney fees and costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988.
Plaintiffs reserve the right to amend this Complaint as additional facts become more apparent.

Count 2:

Violation of Fourth Amendment Right to Be Free From Unreasonable Search and Seizure

33.

Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1-32. Plaintiffs have a constitutional right under the Fourth Amendment of the United States
Constitution to be free from unreasonable search and seizure. These rights were violated by Defendants Roberts, Busch, Mueller,
and Oregon City acting in concert with John Doe Officers 1-3. 42 U.S.C. § 1983 provides that a party shall be liable when
it “subjects, or causes to be subjected, any person of the United States … deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities
secured by the Constitution and laws of the United States.”

34.

Defendants acting under color of law, in an individual capacity, misused their powers with a conscious disregard for Plaintiff's
constitutional rights. In addition, or in the alternative, their conduct was wanton, reckless, and in disregard of plaintiff's well-
established constitutional rights and they knew or reasonably should have known that their conduct was below the standard
prescribed by law herein. Defendants' conduct was well defined by law and each Defendant knew or reasonably should have
known that their conduct was below the standard prescribed by law herein.
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35.

Defendants violated Plaintiff's rights under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution to be free from
unreasonable search and seizure by engaging in conduct as alleged above that includes, but is not limited to:
a. Unreasonably entering Plaintiffs property at 303 S. High St. without a warrant;

b. Unreasonably entering Plaintiffs' property at 303 S. High St. without consent;

c. Unreasonably searching Plaintiffs' property at 303 S. High St.

d. Unreasonably entering Plaintiffs' property at 303 S. High St. under the pretext of performing an inspection which never
took place.

e. Unreasonably seizing Plaintiffs' real property at 303 S. High St. and refusing to return it upon lawful demand;

f. Unreasonably entering Plaintiffs property at 314 S. 2 nd  St. without a warrant;

g. Unreasonably entering Plaintiffs' property at 314 S. 2 nd  St. without consent;

h. Unreasonably searching Plaintiffs' property at 314 S. 2 nd  St.

i. Unreasonably entering Plaintiffs' property at 314 S. 2 nd  St. under the pretext of performing an inspection which never took
place.

j. Unreasonably seizing Plaintiffs' real property at 314 S. 2 nd  St. and refusing to return it upon lawful demand;

k. Unreasonably seizing Plaintiff Kelvin's chattels and refusing return upon lawful demand

36.

Defendants violated Plaintiff's right to be free from unreasonable search and seizure as protected by the Fourth Amendment of
the United States Constitution by engaging in conduct as alleged above in paragraphs 1-31.

37.

Plaintiffs' right to be free from unreasonable search and seizure was unlawfully stripped from them by Defendants unlawful
and unreasonable entry, search, and seizure.

38.

Defendants misused their powers with a willful and malicious intent to deprive Plaintiffs of their Fourth Amendment rights
and caused plaintiffs grievous injuries thereby. Defendants, in acting to deprive Plaintiffs of their Fourth Amendment rights,
acted intentionally, knowingly, willfully, and with gross disregard to Plaintiffs' rights. Plaintiffs were denied freedom from
unreasonable search and seizure.
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39.

The failures described herein, were deliberately indifferent, and in reckless disregard of Plaintiff's safely.and well-being.

40.

The acts of the individually named Defendants, as alleged in the paragraphs above, constitute a violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983
for which Plaintiffs are entitled to relief. The violations of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 by the individually named Defendants, resulted in
Plaintiff being deprived of her rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution and laws of the United States.

41.

As a direct and proximate cause of the individually named Defendants' violations of Plaintiffs Fourteenth Amendment rights,
Plaintiff Dunlap requests equitable relief, economic damages in the amount of at least $50,000 and non-economic damages of
at least $1,333,300. Plaintiff Kelvin requests equitable relief, economic damages in the amount of at least $10,000 and non-
economic damages of at least $1,015,000. Plaintiffs' economic damages continue to accrue at the rate of approximately $15,000
per month. Plaintiffs seeks recovery of all equitable relief, economic damages, and compensatory damages provided by law, in
addition to reasonable attorney fees and costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF: Trespass to Land

AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS

42.

Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1-41.

43.

At all times during Defendants' tortious actions, Plaintiffs maintained a possessory interest in the real property located at 303

S. High Street and 314 S. 2 nd  Street. Plaintiffs are entitled under law to be free from interference and unauthorized and
unprivileged entry onto their real property.

44.

Defendants intentionally and/or negligently entered Plaintiffs real property without authorization or privilege, and did so in
violation of the code of Oregon City, and in violation of the laws of the State of Oregon, and the rights of privacy and due
process afforded to Plaintiffs by the United States Constitution.

45.

The effect of Defendants' intentional and unauthorized entry onto Plaintiffs' property was to disturb Plaintiffs' interest in their

right to exclusive possession of the real property located at 303 S. High St. and 314 S. 2 nd  Street and to render them homeless.

46.
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Plaintiffs have been damaged by the Defendants' conduct as complained of herein, in an amount to be determined at trial.
Plaintiff Dunlap requests equitable relief, economic damages in the amount of at least $50,000 and non-economic damages
of at least $616,700. Plaintiff Kelvin requests equitable relief, economic damages in the amount of at least $10,000 and non-
economic damages of at least $655,700. Plaintiff's economic damages continue to accrue at the rate of approximately $15,000
per month. Plaintiffs seeks recovery of all equitable relief, economic damages, and compensatory damages provided by law,
in addition to reasonable attorney fees and costs.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF: Conversion

AGAINST DEFENDANTS CITY OF OREGON CITY, ROBERTS AND BUSCH

47.

Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1-46.

48.

Defendants intentionally exercised dominion and control over the sum of Plaintiff Kelvin's Chattels by restricting access thereto
by threat of force, and under color of law, thereby seriously depriving him of his possessory interest and his right of control.
Further, Defendants refused to return Plaintiff Kelvin's property and continued to exercise dominion and control over the
property and/or preclude his access to his personal and real property in spite of Plaintiff Kelvin's multiple lawful demands and
the lawful demands of his attorneys.

49.

Defendants' interference with Plaintiff Kelvin's Chattels was not in good faith and was so serious as to permanently deprive
Plaintiff Kelvin of his personal property.

50.

Plaintiff Kelvin has been damaged by the Defendants' conduct as complained of herein, in an amount to be determined at trial.
Plaintiff Kelvin requests equitable relief, economic damages in the amount of at least $50,000 and non-economic damages of at
least $600,000. Plaintiff's damages continue to accrue at the rate of approximately $15,000 per month. Plaintiff seeks recovery
of all equitable relief, economic damages, and compensatory damages provided by law, in addition to reasonable attorney fees
and costs.

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF: Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress

AGAINST DEFENDANTS CITY OF OREGON CITY, ROBERTS, AND BUSCH

51.

Plaintiffs re-allege the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1-50, supra, and incorporates them herein by reference as though set
forth here in full.

52.
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By the conduct alleged above, which is prohibited under Oregon law, the Oregon Constitution, and the public policy of the
State of Oregon, Defendants, and each of them, acted outrageously, with the intention to cause, or with reckless disregard of the
probability of causing Plaintiffs severe emotional distress. This conduct, which was unprivileged and unwanted by Plaintiffs,
exceeded the bounds of socially tolerable conduct and actually and proximately caused Plaintiffs severe emotional distress.

53.

Defendants, and each of them, harmed Plaintiffs because those actions caused Plaintiffs to suffer humiliation, embarrassment,
mental anguish, and emotional distress. The actions of Defendants, and each of them, injured Plaintiffs' mind and body. As a
result of such unlawful conduct and consequent harm, Plaintiffs suffered damages that will be proven at trial.

54.

The conduct of Defendants proximately caused Plaintiffs to suffer, and to continue to suffer, damages, including injuries to
their person in an amount which will be proven at trial.

55.

The malicious and/or oppressive conduct of Oregon City, and/or Defendants Roberts and Busch, and each of them, was
in reckless disregard of Plaintiff's rights and therefore warrants the imposition of substantial damages. Plaintiffs have been
damaged by the Defendants' conduct as complained of herein, in an amount to be determined at trial. Plaintiffs request equitable
relief, economic damages in the amount of at least $50,000 and non-economic damages of at least $350,000 per Plaintiff.
Plaintiffs economic damages continue to accrue at the rate of approximately $15,000 per month. Plaintiffs seeks recovery of
all equitable relief, economic damages, and compensatory damages provided by law, in addition to reasonable attorney fees
and costs.

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF: Intentional Interference with Economic Relations

AGAINST DEFENDANTS CITY OF OREGON CITY, ROBERTS, BUSCH, AND MUELLER

56.

Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1-55 and reincorporate them herein.

57.

Plaintiffs have entered into and/or had a reasonable expectation that they would maintain or enter into contracts or business
relationships with certain persons who were existing OCM tenants or who had communicated their interest in establishing a
prospective tenant relationship with Plaintiff Dunlap. Plaintiff Dunlap is aware that numerous of her existing and/or prospective
tenants have attempted to communicate with her or to obtain additional information about Plaintiff and her services through
303 S. High St.

58.

In addition or in the alternative, Plaintiff Dunlap was at all times during the relevant events engaged in a contractual relationship
with the City of Oregon City Water Utility. The Oregon City Utility department provided water to 303 S. High St. at all times
during Plaintiffs residence and tenancy. Defendants knew or should have known of the relationship between Oregon City Utility
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Department and Plaintiff Dunlap because Plaintiff Dunlap's home is located within the City of Oregon City's, Defendants are
employees of Oregon City with access to relevant records, and Defendants entered 303 High St. On October 7, 2014 and on
March 31, 2015. Notwithstanding this knowledge, Defendants intentionally interfered with the contractual relationship between
Oregon City Utility Department and Plaintiff Dunlap by the improper means of unlawfully entering her home and terminating
her tenancy. Defendants' intentional interference and improper means of accomplishing the interference caused Plaintiff Dunlap
to default on her payment to Oregon City Utility Department. Plaintiff Dunlap's water services were severed on or about April,
2015 because of Defendants' tortious interference.

59.

Plaintiff Dunlap, on behalf of LCT, Plaintiff Kelvin engaged in a contractual relationship resulting in a valid tenancy between
Plaintiff Dunlap and Plaintiff Kelvin. Upon information and belief, Defendants were aware of these contracts and/or prospective
business relations of Plaintiffs.

60.

Upon information and belief, Defendants knowingly and willfully interfered in Plaintiffs' contracts and/or business expectancies
by improperly and unreasonably posting 303 S. High St as a dangerous building, and other unlawful conduct. As a result of
the Defendants' conduct, tenants were induced to breach or terminate contracts, business relationships or expectancies with
Plaintiff Dunlap.

61.

Defendants' conduct as complained of herein was knowing, willful, malicious and deliberate.

62.

Plaintiffs have been damaged by the Defendants' conduct as complained of herein, in an amount to be determined at trial.
The malicious and/or oppressive conduct of Oregon City, and/or Defendants Roberts, Busch, and Mueller and each of them,
was in reckless disregard of Plaintiffs' rights and therefore warrants the imposition of substantial damages in an amount to be
determined by jury at trial. Plaintiff Dunlap requests equitable relief, economic damages in the amount of at least $50,000 and
non-economic damages of at least $666,700. Plaintiff Kelvin requests equitable relief, economic damages in the amount of
at least $50,000 and non-economic damages of at least $666,700. Plaintiffs' economic damages continue to accrue at the rate
of approximately $15,000 per month. Plaintiffs seeks recovery of all equitable relief, economic damages, and compensatory
damages provided by law, in addition to reasonable attorney fees and costs.

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF: Elder Abuse in violation of ORS 124.110

AGAINST DEFENDANTS CITY OF OREGON CITY, ROBERTS, AND BUSCH

63.

Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1-62 and reincorporate them herein.

64.
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At all times during Defendants' tortious actions Plaintiff Kelvin was over 65 years of age and disabled as defined in ORS
410.040(7). Plaintiff demanded access and return of his property from Defendants on numerous occasions. Because Plaintiff
Kelvin is without transportation, Plaintiff Dunlap made an appointment with Defendant Busch in an effort to retrieve Plaintiff
Kelvin's property. When Both Plaintiffs Dunlap and Kelvin arrived at Defendant Busch's office, Plaintiff Kelvin was again
refused control of and access to his property because only Plaintiff Dunlap had made an appointment. On April 29, 2015, after
Plaintiff continued to be both ignored and refused, and 30 days after the initial wrongful taking, Plaintiff's attorneys sent to
Defendant City of Oregon City's legal counsel, Defendant Busch, and Defendant Roberts a demand via First Class U.S. Mail
for immediate return of Plaintiff's personal property along with simple and explicit instructions on the manner in which to do so.
Plaintiff's attorneys also informed Defendants that if they failed to return Plaintiff Kelvin's property, they would be subject to a
claim for elder abuse and liable for attorney fees and costs under ORS 124.100(2)(c). At the time of this complaint, Defendants
have not contacted Plaintiff's attorneys regarding the return of or access to Mr. Kelvin's personal property.

65.

Defendants' actions on March 31, 2015 constituted a wrongful taking or appropriation of money or property. Defendants carried
out the taking by improper motive and improper means as incorporated by the facts alleged herein. Defendants Oregon City,
Roberts, and Busch took Plaintiff Kelvin's property by improper means because it was taken without due process and continued
to be held after Plaintiff Kelvin requested numerous times that Defendants return control of and access to said personal and
real property. Thus, Plaintiff Kelvin was continually and wrongfully deprived of his property. Additionally or in the alternative,
Defendants knowingly subjected Plaintiff Kelvin, an elderly person and person with a disability, to alarm by conveying a threat
to wrongfully take or appropriate money or property, which threat reasonably would be expected to cause Plaintiff Kelvin
to believe that the threat would be carried out. Therefore, Defendants City of Oregon City, Roberts, and Busch are liable to
Plaintiff Kelvin for elder abuse under ORS 124.110.

66.

The intentional malicious and/or oppressive conduct of Oregon City, and/or Defendants Roberts, and Busch, and each of them,
was in intentional and/or reckless disregard of Plaintiff Kelvin's rights and his status as a vulnerable elderly and disabled person
and therefore warrants the imposition of substantial damages. Plaintiff requests equitable relief, and treble damages as stated
under Oregon law. Economic damages in the amount of at least $50,000 and non-economic damages of at least $600,000.
Plaintiffs economic damages continue to accrue at the rate of approximately $15,000 per month. Plaintiff seeks recovery of all
equitable relief, economic damages, and compensatory damages provided by law, in addition to reasonable attorney fees and
costs pursuant to ORS 124.100(2)(c).

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF: Abuse of Process

AGAINST DEFENDANTS CITY OF OREGON CITY, ROBERTS, BUSCH, AND MUELLER

67.

Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1-66 and reincorporate them herein.

68.

Defendants engaged in the perversion of legal procedure to accomplish an ulterior purpose unrelated to the process of inspecting

the property located at 303 S. High Street and 314 S. 2 nd  Street because Defendants attempted to use the process of an unlawful
building inspection to justify their ulterior purpose of a warrantless and unannounced license inspection, or alternatively,
Defendants attempted to use an unlawful business license inspection to justify their ulterior purpose of a warrantless and

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000534&cite=ORSTS410.040&originatingDoc=I1d96cc80f79411e4815bfad867ab3d62&refType=SP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_794b00004e3d1
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000534&cite=ORSTS410.040&originatingDoc=I1d96cc80f79411e4815bfad867ab3d62&refType=SP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_794b00004e3d1
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000534&cite=ORSTS124.100&originatingDoc=I1d96cc80f79411e4815bfad867ab3d62&refType=SP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_0446000051070
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000534&cite=ORSTS124.110&originatingDoc=I1d96cc80f79411e4815bfad867ab3d62&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000534&cite=ORSTS124.100&originatingDoc=I1d96cc80f79411e4815bfad867ab3d62&refType=SP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_0446000051070


Kelly KELVIN, Verna Dunlap and Life Change Transitions..., 2015 WL 2155439...

 © 2016 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 20

unannounced building inspection. A business license inspection is unrelated to a building code inspection because they are
separated by differing standards, laws, and procedures. At no time from March 31, 2015 through April 9, 2015 did the Oregon
City Municipal Code change with respect to business licenses or building inspections.

69.

Defendants engaged in willful actions in the use of the process that is not proper in the regular course of the proceeding
because Defendants knowingly and willfully violated Oregon City Municipal code and Plaintiffs' right under the United States
Constitution.

70.

Defendants' actions constituted an actual arrest or a seizure of property because Plaintiffs were kept from accessing and

possessing both real and personal property located at 303 S. High Street and 314 S. 2 nd  Street.

71.

The malicious and/or oppressive conduct of Oregon City, and/or Defendants Roberts, Busch, and Mueller and each of them,
was in reckless disregard of Plaintiffs' rights and therefore warrants the imposition of substantial damages. Plaintiff Dunlap
requests equitable relief of economic damages in the amount of at least $50,000 and non-economic damages of at least $100,000.
Plaintiff Kelvin requests equitable relief of economic damages in the amount of at least $50,000 and non-economic damages of
at least $100,000. Plaintiffs' economic damages continue to accrue at the rate of approximately $15,000 per month. Plaintiffs
seeks recovery of all equitable relief, economic damages, and compensatory damages provided by law, in addition to reasonable
attorney fees and costs.

72.

Plaintiffs reserve the right to amend this complaint as needed and in the interest of justice.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs seek a judgment and award in favor of Plaintiffs as follows:
1. On the First Claim for Relief, Violation of 42 USC §1983, Counts 1 and 2, against all Defendants Oregon City, Oregon,
Mike Roberts, Nancy Busch, Dave Mueller, and Unknown Oregon City Police Officers, John Does 1-5:

a. An award in favor of Plaintiff Dunlap of compensatory and non-economic damages in the amount of $2,766,600; and

b. An award in favor of Plaintiff Kelvin of compensatory and non-economic damages in the amount of $2,050,000; and

c. An award of reasonable attorney fees, costs and disbursements pursuant to 42 USC §1988; and

d. Declaratory relief permanently enjoining Defendants from violating Plaintiff's rights,

2. On the Second Claim for Relief, Trespass to Land, against Defendants City of Oregon City, Roberts, Busch, Mueller,
and Unknown Oregon City Police Officers John Does 1-5:

a. An award in favor of Plaintiff Dunlap of compensatory and non-economic damages in the amount of $666,700; and
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b. An award in favor of Plaintiff Kelvin of compensatory and non-economic damages in the amount of $665,700; and

c. An award of reasonable attorney fees, costs and disbursements.

d. Declaratory relief permanently enjoining Defendants from violating Plaintiff's rights,

3. On the Third Claim for Relief, Conversion, against Defendants City of Oregon City, Roberts, and Busch:

a. Compensatory damages to Plaintiff Kelvin in the amount of $650,000 with Defendants jointly and severally liable or in
contributions proven at trial or set by this court;

b. For reasonable attorney fees, costs, and disbursements.

4. On the Fourth Claim for Relief, Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress, against Defendants City of Oregon City,
Oregon, Roberts, and Busch:

a. An award in favor of Plaintiff Dunlap of compensatory and non-economic damages in the amount of $400,000; and

b. An award in favor of Plaintiff Kelvin of compensatory and non-economic damages in the amount of $400,000; and

c. An award of reasonable attorney fees, costs and disbursements.

5. On the Fifth Claim for Relief, Intentional Interference with Economic Relations, against Defendants City of Oregon
City, Oregon, Mueller, Roberts, and Busch:

a. An award in favor of Plaintiff Dunlap of compensatory and non-economic damages in the amount of $716,000; and

b. An award in favor of Plaintiff Kelvin of compensatory and non-economic damages in the amount of $716,000; and

c. An award of reasonable attorney fees, costs and disbursements.

6. On the Sixth Claim for Relief, Elder Abuse (ORS 124.110), against Defendants City of Oregon City, Roberts, and
Busch:

a. An award in favor of Plaintiff Kelvin of compensatory and non-economic damages in the amount of $650,000 and imposition
of treble damages as prescribed by statute; and

b. An award of reasonable attorney fees, costs and disbursements pursuant to ORS 124.100(2)(c).

7. On the Seventh Claim for Relief, Abuse of Process, against Defendants City of Oregon City, Mueller, Roberts, and
Busch:

a. An award in favor of Plaintiff Dunlap of compensatory and non-economic damages in the amount of $150,000; and

b. An award in favor of Plaintiff Kelvin of compensatory and non-economic damages in the amount of $150,000; and

c. An award of reasonable attorney fees, costs and disbursements.
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8. An award for all of Plaintiff's reasonable attorney fees, costs and expenses

9. For any such other relief the Court deems just and equitable.

DATED this 6th day of May, 2015.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ <<signature>>

Tyler Smith, OSB# 075287

Tyler Smith & Associates P.C.

181 N Grant St. STE 212

Canby, OR 97013

Tyler@RuralBusinessAttorneys.com

503-266-5590(p);503-877-6652(f)

Of attorneys for Plaintiffs
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